STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Laurens County  
Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JUN 01 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DARRELL ERWIN RAINES JR.,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000142

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN H. STROM  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

### **I.**

The trial court erred reversibly by admitting the unredacted video tape of Appellant's interrogation by law enforcement during which investigators, several of whom did not testify at trial, repeatedly called Appellant a liar, misrepresented or fabricated evidence of Appellant's guilt during the interrogation, and urged Appellant to confess to Miranda Southern's murder; all of which constituted inadmissible hearsay.

### **II.**

The trial court erred reversibly in admitting texts messages purportedly sent by Miranda Southern to Appellant where the text messages purportedly sent by Southern constituted inadmissible hearsay, not fitting within any exception.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 1, 2013, the Laurens County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Darrell Raines for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 604 – 607.

On December 7-11, 2013, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker and a jury. R. 1. Bryan C. Able represented Appellant, and Assistant Solicitors Dale Scott and Margaret Boykin represented the State. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 591, l. 14 - 593, l. 23. The trial court sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment. R. 601, l. 14 - 602, l. 22.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The trial court erred reversibly by admitting the unredacted video tape of Appellant's interrogation by law enforcement during which investigators, several of whom did not testify at trial, repeatedly called Appellant a liar, misrepresented or fabricated evidence of Appellant's guilt during the interrogation, and urged Appellant to confess to Miranda Southern's murder; all of which constituted inadmissible hearsay.**

#### **Introduction**

The State accused Appellant of murdering Miranda Southern, a woman he had met on the online dating site Plenty-of-Fish. Southern went missing after finishing a shift at Charter Communications in Simpsonville on August 19, 2013. On August 23, 2013, her body was found in a rural field in Laurens County just south of Woodruff. She was killed by a single gunshot wound to the back of the neck.

Confusingly, the State alleged that Appellant was motivated to murder Southern because he was obsessed with another woman, Lisa Hamlett. As will be seen *infra*, the State's case against Appellant was circumstantial. Prosecutors pieced together, and at times overstated the relevance of, an amalgamation of gun purchases, text messages, historical cell site data, and purported inconsistencies in Appellant's statements to law enforcement to allege that Appellant killed Southern.

#### **Relevant Facts**

On August 19, 2013, Miranda Southern was reported missing by her neighbor, Lauren Searcy, after Southern missed their usual morning chat from their adjoining apartment porches. R. 64, l. 16 – 66, l. 18. Calls and text messages Searcy made to Southern's cell phone went unanswered. Southern's car was also missing.

Searcy then checked Southern's Facebook page where Southern had posted that, due to stress, she was leaving the Greenville area to visit friends in Savannah. R. 69, l. 5 – 70, l. 23. Despite only knowing Southern for five months prior to her disappearance and admittedly being unfamiliar with Facebook, Searcy asserted at trial that the Facebook entries did not appear to be written by Southern. R. 68, ll. 16-25.

Searcy called the police and reported Southern missing. R. 70, l. 21 – 72, l. 16. Greenville County Investigators Tracy King and Antonio Bailey interviewed Searcy regarding the missing persons report she filed. R. 186, l. 8 – 187, l. 21. From Searcy, the officers learned that Southern was estranged from her husband, Shawn Southern, with whom she had two children. R. 73, ll. 3-15. Investigators also learned that Southern had met and begun to socialize with Appellant. R. 59, l. 11 – 63, l. 14.

Shawn and Southern had a volatile relationship. Shawn had recently moved out of their apartment. R. 109, l. 7 – 111, l. 18. At the time of Southern's disappearance, he was living with his girlfriend, Deborah Nulph. He had recently impregnated her and, by the time of Appellant's trial, had married her. *Id.* Shawn testified that Southern "exploded" when she discovered that he had impregnated Nulph. R. 123, l. 4 – 127, l. 10. Nulph was the only person able to provide Shawn with an alibi for the time period during which Southern disappeared. R. 132, l. 13 – 136, l. 6. Police eliminated Shawn as a suspect based on Nulph's averments.

Shawn was unemployed and unable to financially support the two children he had with Southern. R. 82, l. 4 – 83, l. 12. His relationship with Southern's family was so fraught that Southern's mother refused to turn her grandchildren over to his custody after Southern went missing. R. 88, ll. 4-23. Southern was employed at Charter Communications and still maintained a joint bank account with Shawn. R. 211, l. 1 – 212, l. 17.

With the impending dissolution of her marriage, Southern began online dating. R. 59, l. 8 – 60, l. 16. Only two days before she disappeared, Shawn found out that Southern was socializing with Appellant and – despite his infidelity leading to the end of their marriage – he instigated a violent fight with Southern during which he broke her cell phone and stole her big-screen television. R. 109, l. 7 – 112, l. 21; R. 124, l. 7 – 127, l. 10. However, at trial, Shawn claimed the two had reconciled and, that on the day she disappeared, Southern visited him during her break at around 8:00-8:30 pm and the two had a friendly conversation. R. 111, l. 7 – 112, l. 2.

At the beginning of their investigation, police accessed Southern's financial records. Her banking records revealed that a five hundred dollar ATM withdrawal was made at 3:30 am on August 19, 2013. R. 214, l. 1 – 220, l. 25. Southern was last seen leaving work at Charter Communications just after mid-night, early on August 19th.

Video surveillance from the ATM machine located in Berea, South Carolina, just north of Greenville showed Appellant made the withdrawal using Southern's debit card. (State's Exhibit #29). Video cameras from a convenience store established that Southern had her debit card with her until at least 8:00 pm on August 18th. R. 214, l. 1 – 220, l. 25.

Police first interrogated Appellant on August 22, 2013. R. 442, l. 11 – 447, l. 10. Investigators Antonio Bailey and Tracy King conducted the interrogation. In a written statement, Appellant explained that Southern had lent him her debit card so that he could borrow money to make a car payment. *Id.*; (State's Exhibit #26). Appellant stated that he had borrowed the debit card either the night before or the morning that Appellant disappeared. *Id.*

Appellant wrote that Southern and Shawn had been fighting because Shawn was upset about Southern dating other men. *Id.* Appellant explained that, when he texted Southern to let her know he was about to make the withdrawal from Southern's joint bank account she shared

with Shawn, she asked him to withdraw three hundred dollars for her. *Id.* At trial, Searcy confirmed that Southern also allowed her to borrow her debit card to make purchases on her behalf. R. 132, ll. 3-21.

Appellant also wrote that he owned a 9mm Hi-Point pistol that he had purchased from a Greenville area gun shop. (State's Exhibit #26). Police later interviewed the gun shop owner, who recalled that Appellant had tried to return the 9mm because rounds frequently jammed. R. 320, l. 1 – 323, l. 13. The shop owner further recalled that Appellant had remarked to him that he had a similar problem with a .380 Hi-Point pistol that he had sent to manufacturer for repairs. *Id.* Police asked him to hand over his cell phone. Appellant agreed.

On August 23, 2013, the Laurens County Sheriff's department responded to a call from Christine Yates about a body in a grass field in a rural area south of Woodruff. R. 147, l. 21 – 149, l. 2. Yates also told police that she thought she had heard two gunshots around 1:00 – 1:30 am on the morning of August 19, 2013, but did not see anything. R. 144, ll. 5-22.

The body police found in the field was badly decomposed and barefoot. The body was identified as Southern through DNA matching. R. 162, l. 3 – 168, l. 7. Laurens County law enforcement also located Southern's car in the parking lot of the Simonsville BI-LO, near the Charter Communications' campus. R. 262, l. 7 – 264, l. 5. Southern had been killed by a single gunshot in the back of her neck, just below her skull. R. 253, l. 21 – 255, l. 7.

SLED ballistic analyst testified the bullet recovered from Southern was "most consistent" with a .380 caliber bullet from a Hi-Point. R. 351, l. 1 – 354, l. 4. However, a 9mm Hi-Point could not be ruled out. No bullet casings were recovered from the crime scene. Police found a magazine fitting either a .380 or 9mm Hi-Point pistol about seven feet away from Southern's body. R. 162, l. 3 – 164, l. 17. No DNA or fingerprints were recovered from the magazine.

DNA taken from fingernail scrapings of Southern's right hand tested positive for Y/STR, but Appellant was excluded as a possible contributor. R. 504, ll. 3-25.

Police intercepted Appellant's .380 on its return from the manufacturer. Despite being extensively reworked, the SLED ballistics expert testified at trial that nothing done to the gun to address the jamming issue would have changed the ballistics. R. 353, l. 12 - 354, l. 21. The SLED expert also conceded that the model gun purchased by Appellant was extremely common with tens of thousands manufactured each year and sold in over fifty-seven stores within a hundred miles of Greenville. R. 371, l. 6 - 374, l. 25.

Police processed Southern's car, but found no evidence to suggest that Appellant had ever been in it. R. 313, l. 15 - 315, l. 22. Police also processed Appellant's truck, but found nothing incriminating. *Id.* The ballistics testing was inconclusive, The bullet fragments recovered from Southern's body were too degraded. R. 354, l. 15 - 355, l. 25.

#### Appellant's August 29, 2013 Interrogation

Police interrogated Appellant for a second time on August 29, 2013. R. 282, l. 12 - 283, l. 21; (State's Exhibit # 47). Unlike the first interrogation, Appellant was *Mirandized* and the interrogation was recorded. Laurens County Lieutenant Keith McIntosh and Investigator Bryan Cheeks led the almost two hour interrogation. R. 284, l. 10 - 308, l. 12. Other officers periodically participated in the interrogation, but were never identified by the State. *Id.*

Throughout the interrogation police, particularly Cheeks, threatened Appellant and repeatedly called him a liar. *Id.*; (State's Exhibit #47). In an effort to get a confession, investigators misrepresented evidence, telling Appellant that they had cameras showing him driving in his truck down I-385 from Greenville towards where Southern's body was discovered on the night she disappeared. *Id.*

There was no interstate video footage. R. 309, l. 10 – 317, l. 10. Nor was there any evidence that Appellant was in Laurens County on the night the State claimed Southern's was murdered. *Id.* Video footage from the BI-LO where Southern's car was found was totally obscured by foliage. *Id.* Video footage from a convenience store located near the field where Southern's body was found was likewise inconclusive, showing only unidentifiable headlights around the time Yates reported hearing gun shots. *Id.*

Law enforcement also threatened Appellant with execution for Southern's murder and gloated to him that he would never see his son again. R. 284, l. 10 – 308, l. 12; (State's Exhibit 47). During portions of the interrogation, Cheeks and other officers urged Appellant to "get right with his heart and do the right thing." R. 286, ll. 1-23. Despite the intense pressure applied by investigators, Appellant maintained that he did not kill Southern. Appellant was arrested at the end of the interrogation.

At trial, the State sought to play the entirety of the interrogation before the jury. Defense counsel objected citing to our Supreme Court's opinion in *State v. Brewer*, 411 S.C. 401, 768 S.E.2d 656 (2015). Defense counsel argued that the constant misrepresentation of evidence of by the interrogating officers and their repeated accusations that Appellant was a liar, impermissibly shifted the burden of proof to Appellant to prove that he was innocent. R. 284, l. 10 – 308, l. 12.

Many of the officers that took part in the interrogation did not testify at trial, including Investigator Cheeks who was responsible for the most egregious misrepresentations and threats. In addition, the vast majority of the statements in the interrogation were made by the investigators, not Appellant, thus constituting hearsay and violated Appellant's right to confront adverse witnesses. *Id.*

Oddly, the State countered that the defense should be happy that the State was trying to enter the interrogation into evidence because it showed the police being “overly aggressive, foaming at the mouth, acting like a jerk, you and there [Appellant] is being cool, calm, and [collected]. R. 289, l. 8 – 291, l. 5. The solicitor noted that he did not recall the police calling Appellant a liar, but that he certainly planned to call him a liar during closing arguments. The State further argued that it was unfair to hold the solicitor responsible for the manner in which the police interrogated Appellant. *Id.*

The court conceded that police, led by Investigator Cheeks, had told Appellant at least fourteen times that he was a liar. R. 302, ll. 6-12. Nevertheless, the court agreed with the State and allowed the video into evidence. R. 302, l. 20 – 303, l. 17. However, the court ordered that the threat to have Appellant executed for Southern’s murder and the end of the interrogation where Appellant is placed in handcuffs had to be redacted. *Id.* The court also instructed the jury that “anything that the police officers say during the course of this interview is not evidence and is not to be considered whatsoever as evidence.” R. 304, ll. 18-25.

#### Additional Evidence

At trial, the State introduced Appellant and Southern’s cellular account records that law enforcement obtained during their investigation. Appellant had an account with Verizon. R. 611 - 620. Southern has an account with Sprint. R. 608 – 611.

From these cell carrier records, the State compiled a summary of calls made by Appellant, including several calls to Hi-Point’s factory, the Simpsonville BI-LO, and Southern. R. 531, l. 2 – 537, l. 20. The State also collected into a spreadsheet all of the communications (text and phone calls) between Appellant and Southern from August 16th through August 19th. R. 460, L. 2 – 487, L. 14; R. 621 – 629.

Finally, the State utilized historical cell site data contained in the Sprint and Verizon records in an effort to determine the approximate locations of Appellant and Southern on August 18-19, 2013. R. 531, l. 2 – 537, l. 20. Using a law enforcement mapping program, the State alleged that the historical cell site data showed that Appellant's cell phone connected to a cell tower near I-385 and Gray Court at 7:38 pm on August 18, 2013.

Appellant and Southern's cell phone both connected with towers around Simpsonville near mid-night when Southern's shift at Charter Communications ended on August 18, 2013. *Id.* Southern's phone next connected with a tower outside of Woodruff at 12:57 a.m. on August 19, 2013. *Id.*

Appellant's phone next connected with a tower in downtown Greenville at 3:30 am followed by connections to towers in the Berea area near Appellant's house. *Id.* The last connection by Southern's cell phone was to a cell phone tower in downtown Greenville at 4:05 am. *Id.*

The State argued that the historical cell site data contradicted Appellant's statements to law enforcement and showed that he was near Southern's place of work when she was about to finish her shift. The defense countered that none of the historical cell site data established that Appellant was with Southern's phone in the Woodruff area around 1:00 – 1:30 am when the State alleged that Southern was shot. R. 543, l. 14 – 546, l. 5.

The law enforcement officer who mapped the historical cell site data conceded that the coverage area for cell towers varied widely and that historical cell site data is not designed to accurately track customers' movements, but rather to insure adequate network coverage. *Id.* The officer further admitted that cell phones connect to the tower with the strongest signal and that the strongest tower is not necessarily the closest tower. *Id.*

In addition to the cellular records, the State also called a series of Appellant's friends and former girlfriends who testified regarding Appellant's brief relationship with Lisa Hamlett. R. 379, l. 21 - 386, l. 20. Lisa Hamlett took the stand and explained that she had a brief sexual relationship with Appellant, but broke up with him when she discovered he was still married and had gotten a co-worker pregnant. R. 403, l. 5 - 413, l. 5.

Hamlett also detailed Appellant's increasingly eccentric and troubling efforts to re-establish their relationship, such as driving around her neighborhood at odd times. *Id.* She testified that, shortly before Southern went missing, she had received a Facebook message from Southern - whom she did not know - stating that Hamlett's current boyfriend had cheated on her with Southern. R. 416, l. 25 - 424, l. 13. Hamlett would recall that Southern had, during the message exchange, suggested that Hamlett break-up with her current boyfriend. *Id.*

### **Discussion**

"The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion." *State v. Black*, 400 S.C. 10, 16, 732 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012) (*internal quotations omitted*). Here, admitting the video tape of Appellant's second interrogation without redacting the investigator's statements was an abuse of discretion. The questions, statements, and accusations lodged against Appellant during the interrogation constituted inadmissible hearsay that unfairly prejudiced Appellant.

Leaving investigators' statements unredacted impermissibly shifted the burden of proof by intimating to the jury that Appellant had to somehow refute the State's evidence, much of it actually non-existent, in order to prove his innocence. Compounding the unfair prejudice to Appellant, he was denied the opportunity to confront many of the officers involved in the interrogation because the State did not have them testify at trial.

This case is on “all fours” with our Supreme Court’s opinion in *State v. Brewer*, 411 S.C. 401, 768 S.E.2d 656 (2015). In *Brewer*, the defendant was arrested following two separate shootings at a night club in Beaufort. 411 S.C. at 403-404, 768 S.E. at 657. The first shooting occurred when the night club owner confronted Brewer over the gun he was carrying. *Id.* Brewer responded by pulling out his pistol and pointing it at the owner’s head. *Id.* Brewer then fired a shot inside the night club, hitting a nearby bystander. *Id.*

The second shooting occurred while Brewer and his friends fled the night club. Shots were fired by at least two individuals, including Brewer and one other identified person. *Id.* Another bystander was struck during the second shooting and killed. For unknown reasons, police only pursued Brewer for the second shooting. *Id.* at 405, 768 S.E.2d at 658.

Beaufort County Sheriff’s Deputies interrogated Brewer. He waived his *Miranda* rights and denied any involvement in the shootings. *Id.* Investigators repeatedly told Brewer that numerous witnesses had identified him as the shooter in what the Court described as “hearsay-laden questions and comments.” *Id.* Brewer attempted to stop the interrogation on several occasions, but the police persisted. During the interrogation, investigators repeatedly urged Brewer to “prove his innocence” and to produce his gun so that they could clear him from suspicion. *Id.*

The Court reversed Brewer’s conviction for the fatal, second shooting holding that the investigators repeated references to eyewitness identifying Brewer as the shooter constituted inadmissible hearsay. *Id.* at 406-407, 768 S.E.2d at 659. “During the interrogation, investigators frequently referenced *and quoted* many purported eyewitnesses . . . . This evidence was hearsay, offered for the sole purpose of proving the truth of the matter asserted, establishing Brewer’s guilt to all charges.” *Id.*

The Court specifically rejected the State's argument that the investigators questions were necessary to understand the context of the interrogation. *Id.* While not creating a categorical rule against allowing investigators' questions to be played before the jury, the Court stressed that "caution must be exercised in the admission of such evidence to ensure that all out of court statements" are properly admissible. *Id.*

Despite not being raised by the defense on appeal, the Court made clear that the admission of investigator's repeated insistence that Brewer prove his innocence was a "grave Constitutional error." *Id.* at 408, 768 S.E.2d at 659.

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