ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Laurens County

The Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DARRELL ERVIN RAINES ,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2016-000142

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. ROBERT BOLCHOZ
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 68383

South Carolina Office of Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-0265

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Circuit
P.O. Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29648
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JUN 05 2017

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

admitted into evidence.” (IBOA at p. 16.) The record before this Court, however, clearly tells a different tale.

Appellant did indeed object to State’s Exhibit #31, but only **after** State’s Exhibit #30 was already introduced into evidence. State’s Exhibit #30 was the content of Appellant’s cell phone dump, while State’s Exhibit #31 was a summary of a portion of that information. At the time Appellant objected to the summary, the text messages contained in the summary were already admitted into evidence. To properly preserve an issue for review there must be a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial court *State v. Johnson*, 363 S.C. 53, 58, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005). Appellant offered no contemporaneous objection when the text messages were first introduced into evidence, and therefore the issue is unpreserved for review.

Additionally, Appellant only offered a preliminary objection to State’s Exhibit #31 when the State first discussed the summary with the investigator who created it, James Perry. Following the exchange about the admissibility of the text messages and whether they were being offered for the truth of the matter asserted, the solicitor informed the trial court he was not moving the summary into evidence, but was only offering the exhibit for identification only. The trial court indicated it was not making a final determination, but would rule on the motion when the exhibit was actually moved into evidence. (R. p. 244, lines 6-10.) Approximately fourteen witnesses later, after the State more substantially developed Raines’ obsession with Lisa Hamlett as a possible motive for the murder, the solicitor actually moved the summary into evidence and intended to publish the summary to the jury. At this critical point, even when prompted by the trial court for any response to the motion, Appellant did not object. Appellant did not renew his objection to this evidence at the time the evidence was introduced.

Even if this Court were to construe Appellant's objection as timely, the objection was overly broad. An objection must be sufficiently specific to inform the trial court of the point being urged by the objector. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). An issue is deemed abandoned if the argument in the brief is not supported by authority or is only conclusory. *In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of McCracken*, 346 S.C. 87, 551 S.E.2d 235 (2001); *State v. Jones*, 344 S.C. 48, 543 S.E.2d 541 (2001); *State v. Cutro*, 332 S.C. 100, 504 S.E.2d 324 (1998) (a one sentence argument is too conclusory to present any issue on appeal); *Solomon v. City Realty Co.*, 262 S.C. 198, 203 S.E.2d 435 (1974).

Although Appellant specifically argued the text messages from the victim were impermissible hearsay, he did not point out to the court the specific texts he argued were offered for the truth of the matter asserted. According to Appellant's brief, he now takes issue with the admissibility of the text messages tending to prove Raines sent messages from Myranda's Facebook account to Hamlett. Out of approximately two hundred fifty entries in State's Exhibit #31, which summarized the phone and text exchanges between Myranda and Raines in the few days leading to her death, only one text (at line 56), when Myranda texts Darrell, "You didn't tell me you msgd her back," is **arguably** proof of the matter asserted. (*But see* discussion below). However, when the solicitor and the trial court considered the content, the judge commented on texts not offered for their truth, such as recharging a dead computer or texts the State contended were sent by Raines from Myranda's phone. (R. p. 242, line 3 – p. 243, line 6.) Had Appellant cited that particular text to the trial court when the parties discussed how the texts were being offered, the trial court could have considered Appellant's objection to that specific entry and ordered the State to redact the Exhibit excluding the impermissible texts. Instead, Appellant objected to the entirety of the exhibit, arguing all the texts were offered for their truth. (R. p. 242,

lines 22-23.) The court suggested the solicitor mark it for identification, then call more witnesses to show the context of the messages, and then Appellant would have the opportunity to renew his objection at its introduction into evidence. (R. p. 244, lines 6-10.) Of course, as discussed earlier, Appellant did not renew his objection; he withdrew it instead and allowed State's Exhibit #31 in without objection.

Lastly, even if Appellant did properly and timely object to the texts from Myranda as impermissible hearsay, the State did not rely on that particular text from Myranda to Raines to prove their theory of the case. The State argued Raines manipulated, took advantage of, and then murdered Myranda Southern, possibly as part of some bizarre plan to win Lisa Hamlett's affections. The text exchanges were simply part of the narrative, and not offered for the truth of the matter asserted. When Myranda texted Raines, "You didn't tell me you msgd her back," it was not relevant to the State's theory of the case that Raines messaged Lisa Hamlett instead of Myranda. The evidence had previously shown Raines had access to her apartment and her computer. Lisa Hamlett testified about Raines' unusual and disturbing behavior, as well as the series of Facebook messages. It made no difference whether Raines sent follow up messages, even if Myranda sent the initial message at Raines' request. He was clearly using her in his deception of Lisa Hamlett. The text is not as significant for its truth – that Raines messaged Lisa – as it is for its reflection of Raines' fascination with this other woman. Raines' own texts to Myranda, which were certainly admissible, are more probative of this theory. (R. p. 621: "Thought... If he isn't there tonight (he's home right now), and we send the messages tonight, and she confronts him, I know how I'd react to something like that and want to drive over immediately. Think we should plant phase 2 either way?") See *United States. v. Walter*, 434 F.3d

30, 35 (1st Cir. 2006) (“statements introduced solely to place a defendant’s admissions into context are not hearsay, and as such, do not run afoul of the Confrontation Clause”);

Myranda’s texts before her death, by and large, gave perspective to this unusual relationship with Raines and gave context to his responses. Myranda’s texts in response to his were admissible for this purpose. *See United States v. Wills*, 346 F.3d 476, 490 (4th Cir. 2003) (witness statements made in conversation with defendant properly admitted to show context of incriminating admissions); *United States v. McDowell*, 918 F.2d 1004, 1007 (1st Cir. 1990) (“McDowell’s own statements could, of course, be used against him; his part of the conversations was plainly not hearsay. Nor can a defendant, having made admissions, keep from the jury other segments of the discussion reasonably required to place those admissions into context.”). Collectively, the texts were not offered for the truth of the statements but as the context to Raines’ statements against interest; consequently, they were not hearsay.

Even assuming arguendo that the content of Myranda’s text message was hearsay, harmless error can apply to this narrow issue. *See State v. Armstead*, 432 So.2d 837, 839 (La.1983) (“[C]omputer printouts which reflect computer stored human statements are hearsay when introduced for the truth of the matter asserted in the statements.”), *State v. Salkil*, 820 N.W.2d 159 (Iowa Ct. App. 2012) (finding the messages themselves were cumulative and noting the court will not find prejudice in the admission of hearsay evidence if “substantially the same evidence has come into the record without objection”). Lisa Hamlett testified to the content of the unusual Facebook messages before State’s Exhibit #31 was moved into evidence. At that point in the trial, the single text message from Myranda to Raines was unsubstantial and cumulative.

III. Any error in the admission of the interrogation video and/or the text messages from the victim before her death is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt.

The precise motive for Myranda's death is unclear, but the State presented witness after witness who offered evidence of Raines' obsession with Hamlett, his access to Myranda's belongings, Myranda's inexplicable trust of Raines, and the efforts Raines made to execute and then conceal Myranda's murder. In fact, in denying the Raines' motion for a directed verdict, the trial court said, "Yeah, I've kept a lot of notes and I made a list of what I consider -- what I considered to be substantial circumstantial evidence in this case, and I've got it numbered at up to 21 different things." (Supp. R.O.A. p. 2, lines 6-9). On a broader scale, any errors in the admissions of the interrogation video, in which Raines admitted nothing, or the text message from Myranda to Raines, which were less significant than those of Raines, were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

"To warrant reversal based on the admission or exclusion of evidence, the appellant must prove both the error of the ruling and the resulting prejudice, i.e., that there is a reasonable probability the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or lack thereof." *State v. Commander*, 396 S.C. 254, 263, 721 S.E.2d 413, 418 (2011). "An appellate court generally will decline to set aside a conviction due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result." *State v. Black*, 400 S.C. 10, 27, 732 S.E.2d 880, 890 (2012). "In applying the harmless error rule, the court must be able to declare the error had little, if any, likelihood of having changed the result of the trial and the court must be able to declare such belief beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 165, 467 S.E.2d 272, 277 (Ct. App. 1996) (citing *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18 (1967)). "No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case."

State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 109–10, 771 S.E.2d 336, 340 (2015). The factors for consideration in any harmless error analysis include:

the importance of the witness' testimony in the prosecution's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and of course the overall strength of the prosecutions' case.

Delaware v. Van Ardsall, 475 U.S. 673, 684 (1986).

In Appellant's case, the remaining evidence of his guilt conclusively proved Raines murdered Myranda Southern. Notwithstanding the video of his interrogation and the text messages from the victim's cell phone, the jury considered the following evidence presented at trial:

A) Incriminating information on Raines' access to Myranda's life:

- Met Raines in person for the first time about a week before her death. (R. p. 60, lines 3-16.)
- Raines had a copy of Myranda's apartment key and was given access to her computer. (R. p. 278, lines 20-21.)
- Raines convinces Myranda to participate in a Facebook scheme to deceive Lisa Hamlett (R. p. 418, lines 4-17.)
- Raines has a computer science background. (R. p. 382, lines 10-19.)

B) Incriminating information of Raines' possession of the debit card:

- At 8:00 p.m., Myranda took her dinner break and is seen using her debit card at a gas station at 8:03 pm the night of August 18. (R. p. 217, lines 15-19; p. 218, lines 18-24; State's Ex. 36.)

- At 12:00 a.m. on August 19, 2013, Myranda left work. (R. p. 362, line 17 – p. 363, line 4.)
 - The last transaction made from Myranda's debit card was a \$500 cash withdrawal from an ATM at the Berea BB&T on August 19, 2013 at 3:36 a.m. (R. p. 212, lines 14-17; p. 213, lines 15-17; p. 214, lines 5-7.)
 - Surveillance from the ATM showed Raines, alone in his truck, withdrawing \$500 from Myranda's account. (R. p. 188, lines 13-18; p. 390, lines 21-24; State's Ex. 26 and 29.)
 - Raines told investigators Myranda gave him her debit card and pin number on August 17, 2013, the night before she went missing. (R. p. 190, lines 9-10; p. 192, lines 11-16.)
- C) Incriminating cell tower information from the night of the murder:
- Contrary to his claims he was taking a nap on the evening of August 18, Raines' phone pinged off a cell tower in downtown Greenville at 11:03 p.m., while Myranda's phone is still being traced to the cell tower near Charter Communications. (R. p. 533, line 22 – p. 534, line 8.)
 - An hour later, at 12:03 a.m. on August 19, 2013, Raines' phone pinged off a cell tower in Simpsonville near Charter Communications. (R. p. 534, lines 9-17.)
 - At 12:09 a.m., Myranda's phone pinged off a cell tower near Charter Communications. (R. p. 534, lines 17-23.)
 - Raines' phone stopped moving while Myranda's phone traveled to the Gray Court area of Laurens County (where her body was located) and pinged off a cell tower at 12:51 a.m. (R. p. 534, line 24 – p. 536, line 6.)

- The witness who lived next door to the field where the body was found in Gray Court was awakened by the sound of two gunshots between 1:00 and 1:30 a.m. on August 19, 2013. (R. p. 144, lines 2-20.)
- Miranda and Raines' phones then traveled towards Greenville, where they both pinged off cell towers downtown at 3:30 a.m. (R. p. 535, line 23 – p. 536, line 4.)
- From there, Raines' phone traveled back up to Berea, and Miranda's phone never moved again. (R. p. 536, lines 5-17.)
- Later the afternoon of the 19th, at 3:56 p.m., Raines' phone pinged again off a cell tower in the Gray Court area of Laurens County, the location where Miranda's body was found. (R. p. 537, lines 3-8).
- In searching the area where the two cell phones pinged, investigators discovered Miranda's car in the Simpsonville BI-LO grocery store parking lot. (R. p. 200, line 11 – p. 201, line 3.)

D) Incriminating phone calls:

- Miranda calls Darrell minutes after she leaves work on the night she is murdered. (R. p. 629.)
- Miranda's phone calls Raines at 3:30 am, approximately two hours after the estimated time of death, and the call lasts for thirty-five minutes. (R. p. 629.)
- On Monday August 19, 2013, Raines made two calls to the BI-LO where Miranda's car was located. (R. p. 292, lines 16-18.)
- Raines called numbers associated with Hi Point thirty times between August 18, 2013 and August 21, 2013. (R. p. 484, line 14 – p. 486, line 23.)

E) Incriminating gun purchases:

- Raines lied about owning a Hi Point .380 caliber weapon, believed to be the murder weapon. (R. p. 318, lines 20-25; Supp. R. O. A. p. 1, lines 10-21.)
- Raines returned the .380 to the manufacturer for re-tooling, and it was received on August 23, 2013. (R. p. 367, lines 1-3.)
- According to postmaster shipping policies, pistols could only be shipped priority mail or overnight express mail. (R. p. 440, lines 5-6.)
- If Raines' gun was received by Hi Point on August 23, 2013, it would have been mailed by Raines on August 22nd if he used overnight express mail. (R. p. 441, lines 2-9) or on August 20th or 21st if Raines shipped the pistol using priority express mail. (R. p. 441, lines 9-11.)

F) Raines' suspicious obsession with Lisa Hamlett, giving rise to a possible motive:

- The Facebook message from Myranda to Lisa. (R. p. 418, lines 2-17.)
- His Facebook password was All4Lisa. (R. p. 234, lines 8-12.)
- His numerous Facebook searches for Lisa and her boyfriend, Jason Gillespie. (R. p. 234, lines 16-22.)
- Raines sent numerous, bizarre communications to Lisa, including letters, Facebook messages, call from his mother on his behalf, a request to rent a room from her, hundreds of jolly ranchers candies and a Build a Bear stuffed teddy bear left on her front porch. (R. pp. 407-421.)
- Raines talked to other women about Lisa, asking them to proof read letters he wanted to send her. (R. p. 389, lines 3-13; p. 396, lines 7-25.)
- Raines' continued plot to make Lisa break up with her boyfriend. (R. p. 621.)

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